IN	THE	SUPRE	ME	<b>OURT</b>	
OF 2	FHE	STATE	OF	FLORIĐA	

CLER

MAY 16 1985

Deputy Cler

W. W. GAY MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR, INC., a Florida corporation,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

DCA-1 NOS. BQ-394 BQ-397

vs.

CASE NO. 72,357

WHARFSIDE TWO, LTD., and CHANEN CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC.,

Defendants/Respondents.

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Petition For Discretionary Review of Opinion of the First District Court of Appeal, Filed by Petitioner, W.W. Gay Mechanical Contractor, Inc.

> S. GORDON BLALOCK BLALOCK, HOLBROOK & AKEL, P.A. 2301 Independent Square Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 356-6311 Attorneys for Plaintiff/ Petitioner

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Reference to Appendix will be by "A- ."

This case essentially revolves around two problems with the domestic water supply system of the Sheraton at St. Johns Place (hereafter, "the Hotel"): an odor in the water, and corrosion to the pipes, causing leaks. These two problems, in turn, arise out of the construction and use of the domestic water supply system for the Hotel, which opened for business on October 6, 1980. (T:119-120).

Gay was the plumbing subcontractor under the general contractor, Chanen. Gay operated under a written contract (PX:1). Gay's plumbing sub-contract was completed October 4, 1980, only two days before the hotel opened for business. Chanen Construction Company withheld \$230,000.00 from the final payment to Gay, although Chanen was paid in full by the owner, Wharfside (T:133,1204). Gay timely filed a proper Mechanics' Lien on the hotel property (PX:3).

Gay filed one suit in the Circuit Court, Duval County, Florida, against both Wharfside and Chanen (R:1-19). The suit against Wharfside, as owner was to foreclose the Mechanics' Lien. The count against Chanen was to recover the balance due under the contract, with interest, costs, and attorney's fees which were provided for in the subcontract (PX:1). Wharfside counterclaimed against Gay for damages (R:33-38), Chanen counterclaimed against Gay for damages, (R:71-77).

- 1 -

By agreement of the Court and the parties, the Mechanics' Lien foreclosures and the action against Chanen by Gay, along with the countersuits and cross-action were all tried before one jury. In effect, the Court used the jury verdict as advisory in ruling on the Mechanics! Lien foreclosure.

The testimony at the trial revealed that Wharfside had expended or would probably expend more than \$30,000.00 in repairs to leaks in the plumbing (T:231) and technical assistance over a period of time after Gay's warranty time had expired. See also (T:501 and T:514).

The trial lasted nine days and the jury returned a verdict, the form of which was proposed by Defendants (R:458-460). The effect of the verdict was to award Gay \$200,000.00 from both Chanen and Wharfside, together with interest; to award Wharfside, the owner, \$30,000.00 against Chanen, the General Contractor, together with interest.

Thereafter, on November 3, 1986, the trial court rendered its Final Judgment (R:537-540), awarding the damages, interest, costs, and attorneys fees. An appeal was taken from that Final Judgment to the District Court of Appeal, First District, which reversed the trial Court with opinion.

The First District Court of Appeal held (A-1) that the trial court should have admitted proffered evidence of lost profits sustained by the hotel. The admission of this testimony was denied by the trial court as too speculative. The District Court of Appeal found that while there was no "track record", certain

- 2 -

projected occupancy rates should have been sufficient for the jury to consider whether loss of profits due to occupancy less than the projected rates were provable, even though this was a new hotel without any record of profits.

The District Court of Appeal also held that the jury verdict was inconsistent when it awarded the owner \$30,000.00 damages from the General Contractor while at the same time holding that the subcontractor, Gay, had done no wrong.

Petitioner here seeks discretionary review of that opinion as being in conflict with former opinions of the District Court of Appeal, and the Supreme Court of Florida.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioner contends that the opinion of the District Court of Appeal that the testimony offered on the owner's claim of lost profits was not so speculative as to prohibit its admission into evidence for consideration by the jury directly conflicts with the finding of the Florida Supreme Court in any number of cases beginning with the case of <u>New Amsterdam Casualty Company v.</u> <u>Utility Battery Mfg. Co.</u>, 122 Fla. 718, 166 So. 856 (Fla. Sup. Ct. 1935) wherein it is stated:

> "The general rule is that the anticipated profits of a commercial business are too speculative and dependent upon changing circumstances to warrant a judgment for their loss. There is an exception to this rule, however, to the effect that the loss of profit from the interruption of an established business may be recovered where the plaintiff makes if reasonable certain by competent proof what the amount of his actual loss was. Proof of the income and of the expenses of the business for a reasonable time anterior to the interruption charged, or facts of equivalent import, is usually required."

#### ARGUMENT

The Defendant's hotel had no "track record". It was a new hotel in Jacksonville, Florida and any number of attributes could affect its occupancy.

The trial court in the present case held that there were too many speculative items. The Defendant contended that prospective hotel guests were staying away because of the odor in the domestic water system. It had no hard proof that this was so--just speculation. This speculation involved:

- (a) Was there an objectionable odor?
- (b) Was an objectionable odor caused by Plaintiff?
- (c) Did any prospective guests refuse to come?
- (d) Did the guests who might have refused to come do so because of an odor in the water?
- (e) How many prospective guests refused to come?
- (f) Were there other reasons such as room rates, or other complaints which could have influenced prospective guests?

(g) What amount of profit could have been lost? The jury would have been required to guess about most, if not all, of these items.

It was obvious that the portion not be paid to Gay was what the jury found was paid or likely to be paid for repairs. The testimony of the witness, Katherine Michels, indicated that a total of some \$21,345.12 had been spent on leaks, \$4,000.00 for new water treatment, and \$7,400.00 for expert investigation and

- 5 -

consultation, for a total of \$32,745.12. (T:501, 514, 517, and 531).

The case of <u>Twyman v. Roell</u>, 123 Fla. 2, 166 So. 215 (Fla. Sup. Ct. 1936) states that:

There are three general principles which the courts apply to determine when lost profits will be allowed as compensation:

1. In both tort and contract actions, lost profits will be allowed only if their loss is proved with a reasonable degree of certainty.

2. ...lost profits will be allowed only if the court is satisfied that the wrongful act of the defendant caused the loss of profits.

3. In contract actions lost profits will be allowed only if the profits were reasonably within the contemplation of the defaulting party at the time the contract was entered into. 17 Fla. Jur.2d 82, Sect. 76.

See also <u>Welbilt Corp. v. All State Distributing Co.</u>, 199 So.2d 127 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967). See also <u>Hernandez v. Leiva</u>, 391 So.2d 292 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980).

The Defendants attempted to introduce evidence that a certain projected occupancy rate was prepared prior to construction for the purpose of seeking financing for the construction; that after opening for business the hotel did not meet that projected rate. Using this deficiency Defendants then multiplied the loss of rate by the room rent it would have charges, and then wanted to take a percentage of that loss as lost profit. The trial court held that this approach was too speculative, particularly in light of admissions that there might be any number of reasons why people would choose not to come to the hotel, and insufficient proof as to the cause of low occupancy.

"Proof of income and of the expenses of the business for a reasonable time anterior to the interruption charged, or of facts of equivalent import is usually required. However, recovery for lost profits is not generally allowed for injuries to a new business with no history of profits. The prospective profits of a new business are generally regarded as being too remote, contingent, and speculative to meet the legal standards of reasonable certainty."

Polyglycoat Corp. v. Hirsch Distributors, Inc., 442 So.2d 958 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

It was held in the case of <u>Daytona Migi of Jacksonville, Inc.</u> <u>v. Daytona Automotive Fiberglass, Inc.</u>, 388 So.2d 228 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) that:

> "In order to recover lost profits, there must be an ongoing business with established sales record and proven ability to realize profits at an established rate."

See also <u>Innkeepers International</u>, <u>Inc. v. McCoy Motels Ltd. and</u> <u>McCoy Motels</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 324 So.2d 676 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975), and <u>F.A.</u> <u>Conner v. Atlas Aircraft Corporation</u>, 310 So.2d 382, (Fla. 3d DCA 1975).

A series of cases from the Third District Court of Appeal have clearly held that:

"It is axiomatic that to establish lost profits, a litigant must prove that his business has earned profits for a reasonable time anterior to the breach."

<u>E.F.K. Collins Corp. v. SMMG, Inc.</u>, 464 So.2d 214 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985).

- 7 -

See also <u>Liza Danielle, Inc. v. Jamko, Inc.</u>, 408 So.2d 735 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

See also <u>A & P Bakery Supply and Equipment Company v. Salameh</u> <u>K. Hawatmeh</u>, 388 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), wherein the court also said:

> "Where a record of past profitability is unavailable to inform the jury's deliberations, any finding it might make regarding lost profits must be purely speculative."

The District Court of Appeal found that the award of \$30,000.00 damages from Chanen, the contractor, to Wharfside, the owner, was inconsistent with the jury's finding that the subcontractor, Gay, had done no wrong. The District Court of Appeal reasoned that if Gay had done no wrong there could be no reason for the jury awarding the owner any damages from the general contractor who could only be liable vicariously because of fault in the subcontractor.

This feature of the opinion of the District Court of Appeal, while not directly conflicting with other opinions is ancillary to the main decision, and not supported, as stated by the case of <u>North American Catamaran RAcing Association, Inc. v. McCallister</u>, 480 So.2d 669 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985) which held that party must object to the inconsistency before the jury is discharged.

- 8 -

#### CONCLUSION

The evidence offered by the Defendants Wharfside and Chanen on the subject of lost profits was so uncertain and speculative as to be inadmissable. The verdict of the jury was not inconsistent. the decision of the First District Court of Appeal should therefore be reversed and the judgment of the trial court allowed to stand.