0/a 12-7-88



IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 72,357

W. W. GAY MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR, INC., a Florida corporation,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

vs.

WHARFSIDE TWO, LTD., and CHANEN CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC.,

Defendants/Respondents.

Esperie Cara

On Appeal from the First District Court of Appeal, State of Florida. DCA-1 NOS.: BQ-394 & BQ-397

ANSWER BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF RESPONDENT WHARFSIDE TWO, LTD. ON THE MERITS

> J. RICHARD MOORE J. RICHARD MOORE, P.A. 500 North Ocean Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 353-8295 Attorney for Defendant/ Respondent Wharfside Two, Ltd.

###

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Trial Court in this case refused to allow Wharfside to claim lost anticipated profits from its hotel operation because it was the Court's position that a new business could not recover lost profits under Florida law.

There is no legal or moral justification for such a rule of law, if one, in fact, has ever existed in this state.

The early decisions of this Court indicate that competent evidence can be used, even by a new business, to show lost anticipated profits. Decisions of the Courts of Appeal have allowed recovery of lost anticipated profits in appropriate circumstances. Any decisions of the District Courts of Appeal holding otherwise are either based upon an erroneous reading of this Court's prior holdings, or more likely, because no competent evidence could be offered to show the amount of the loss.

Wharfside offered substantial competent evidence, both as to the fact of damage, the cause of damage, and the amount of lost future profits which had been sustained. This evidence was based upon established market data and competent and uncontradicted financial projections done for the purpose of obtaining financing for the hotel, management contracts, and to determine the feasibility of the owners entering into the project. That is, Wharfside offered a sufficient yardstick to measure its lost profits by comparing the financial projections

-11-

with the actual performance of the hotel. Such evidence was just as reliable as evidence of profits before and after the wrongful act would have been.

The verdict of the jury was fatally inconsistent. The jury awarded a lesser sum of damages to Gay than the parties had stipulated to. The jury awarded a sum of damages to Wharfside on its crossclaim against Chanen, which had no support in the evidence. There was no way Chanen could have been liable, under the Court's instructions and the issues in the case, to Wharfside unless Gay was also liable to Wharfside, yet the jury found against Wharfside on its claim against Gay.

These inconsistencies were so fundamental that the Appellate Court had no alternative but to hold that that action of the jury required reversal also.

-12-

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT ONE

DID THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA, ERR IN ITS HOLDING THAT THE PROFFERED EVIDENCE OF WHARFSIDE ON ITS CLAIM OF LOST PROFITS WAS NOT SO SPECULATIVE AS TO REQUIRE ITS EXCLUSION?

The Court's stated reason for excluding the claim of lost profits and the testimony of Fred Corso and Joseph Perry was that a new business could not recover damages for lost profits under Florida law.

Petitioner here argues that there were other reasons why the claim for lost profits was too speculative. He contends that there was a question as to whether or not there was an objectionable odor. All parties agreed that there was such an odor.

He contends that it was speculative as to whether or not Gay had caused the odor. There was ample evidence to show that Gay had caused the objectionable odor.

Recognized experts in the field of hotel management testified that guests would refuse to come to a hotel with an

-13-

objectionable odor and that other factors bearing on the occupancy issue had been considered and rejected as a cause.

Insofar as the amount of profit which had been lost is concerned, that was adequately covered by the testimony of Mr. Corso and Dr. Perry by comparison with established economic surveys.

Therefore, the only reason which the Trial Court could have had for the exclusion of the claim for lost profits was its belief that a new business could not, under any circumstances, claim damages for lost profits due to a wrongful act.

The Sheraton Hotel was a new business during the time for which damages were sought. A number of Florida Appellate Court decisions have held that a new business venture can not recover for lost future profits because proof of profits for a reasonable time prior to the breach or wrongful act is required to establish a basis for the recovery. See, <u>E.F.K. Collins Corp.</u> <u>v. S.M.M.G., Inc.</u>, 464 So.2d 214 (3rd Fla. D.C.A. 1985); <u>Murciano v. Urroz</u>, 455 So.2d 463 (3rd Fla. D.C.A. 1984); <u>Wash-Bowl, Inc. v. Wroton</u>, 432 So.2d 766 (2nd Fla. D.C.A. 1983). These cases are cited, there are others containing similar statements, because they are illustrative of the problems which new businesses, which are damaged or destroyed, so often face in attempting to show lost profits.

There is most often simply no competent evidence available or other factors which make the claim one of pure speculation.

-14-

For instance in <u>E.F.K. Collins Corp.</u>, there was no evidence offered to show lost profits were in fact sustained by the alleged wrongful act. In <u>Murciano</u>, the opinion does not reflect that any evidence which might represent a yardstick of the Plaintiff's lost profits was offered or even available. And in <u>Wash-Bowl, Inc.</u>, the Court found, not only that the Plaintiff was a new business with no record of profits, but also that its operators had no prior experience in the laundromat business, so that the claim was based on speculation.

However, as the First District Court of Appeal pointed out in its decision in this case, the rule of no lost profits for a new business is not ironclad.

The First District in the case of <u>Massey Ferguson, Inc. v.</u> <u>Santa Rosa Tractor Co.</u>, 415 So.2d 865 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1982), held that anticipated profits of a commercial business could be recovered if the amount of the lost profits could be satisfactorily ascertained by some standard, such as regular market value or other established data.

The Third District Court of Appeal in the case of <u>Resorts</u> <u>International, Inc. v. Charter Air Center, Inc.</u>, 503 So.2d 1293 (Fla. 3rd D.C.A. 1987), allowed the recovery of lost profits for a new business. In that case, there was a contractual agreement which provided for specific numbers of flights to and from the Defendant's casinos in the Bahamas at agreed rates. These flights never materialized. The Third District Court held that that contractual agreement provided a measure for a

-15-

sufficiently accurate approximation of Plaintiff's lost profits for business which it never received.

Both of those cases are based upon this Court's early decision Twyman v. Roell, 123 Fla.2, 166 So. 215 (1936).

In that case, this Court adopted what has been called the "yardstick test" for measuring lost profits as an alternative theory to the "profits before and after breach test". The opinion held that damages for the loss of prospective profits could be recovered if a Plaintiff could establish the amount of the damages with such certainty as would satisfy an impartial person. The Court said that this could be done by the use of some yardstick or measure such as regular market values or other established data. The language of the Court reads:

> "The rule is well settled that if there is a yardstick or measure of damages by which prospective profits may be determined and they arise out of a contract in which profit is the inducement to its making, they may be allowed if proven, whether they arise from farming, mechanical, or other contracts.

> This rule was approved in Hodges v. Fries, supra, where the court said that if prospective profits form an elemental con-stituent of the contract, their loss, the natural result of its breach, and the amount can be established with reasonable certainty, such certainty as satisfied the mind of a prudent and impartial person, they are The requisite to their allowance is allowed. some standard, such as regular market values, or other established data, by reference to which the amount may be satisfactorily ascertained."

> > -16-

<u>Twyman</u> was decided approximately three (3) months after the Supreme Court case most often cited for the proposition that a new business may not recover lost profits. That is the decision found in <u>New Amsterdam Casualty Co. v. Utility Battery</u> <u>Mfg. Co.</u>, 122 Fla. 718, 166 So. 856 (1935). In that case, this Court held that generally, anticipated profits of a commercial business were too speculative and dependent upon changing circumstances to warrant their recovery. However, the Court then noted that there was an exception to that rule when proof of income and expenses of the business for a reasonable time prior to the interruption could be shown. Many of the Courts of Appeal seem to have given undue influence to that language and concluded that if you can not show a period of profits prior to the breach, then you will always be precluded from recovery.

However, in those cases where the sole basis for denying lost profits have been that the Plaintiff is a new business, the decisions have ignored the plain language of <u>New Amsterdam</u> and <u>Twyman</u>. The exact language of the Court relative to what proof is required in order to recover lost profits is as follows:

> "The general rule is that the anticipated profits of a commercial business are too speculative and dependent upon changing circumstances to warrant a judgment for their loss. There is an exception to this rule, however, to the effect that the loss of profit from the interruption of an established business may be recovered where the plaintiff makes it reasonably certain by competent proof

> > -17-

what the amount of his actual loss was. Proof of the income and of the expenses of the business for a reasonable time anterior to the interruption charged, or facts of equivalent import, is usually required." (Emphasis supplied)

The <u>Twyman</u> decision when read in pari materia with <u>New</u> <u>Amsterdam</u>, shows that this Court never intended that there be an absolute rule that a new business could never recover lost anticipated profits.

In <u>New Amsterdam</u>, this Court said that a Plaintiff either had to show profits before and after a breach, or "facts of equivalent import". In <u>Twyman</u> the Court held that facts of equivalent import would be "some standard, such as regular market values, or other established data" which could be used by reference to establish what the amount of lost profits were.

In this case, as the First District Court recognized, established market surveys were used as a reference to compare with actual occupancy rates and room and related services earnings to determine the amount of the loss. These surveys, accompanied by two expert witnesses with years of experience in hotel management and hotel consulting, coupled with an economist with wide experience in the hotel consulting field, were used by Wharfside to meet the <u>New Amsterdam</u> and <u>Twyman</u> test. The evidence was sufficient to warrant the consideration by the jury of Wharfside's claim for lost profits and the Trial Court should have admitted it. As the First District pointed out,

-18-

the surveys which formed the basis for the damages had been used to obtain multimillion dollar financing and long term management contracts with the Sheraton Corporation. The surveys had been done years before any litigation was even anticipated. They were not suspect and their accurateness was not challenged by Gay.

A fairly recent Federal Court decision from the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, involving Florida law, is strikingly similar to this case. <u>G. M. Brod & Company, Inc. v. U. S. Home</u> <u>Corp.</u>, 759 F.2d 1526 (11th Cir. 1985), involved a dispute for wrongful termination of a hotel management contract. In that case, U. S. Home developed a condominium hotel. It hired Brod to manage it. Brod managed the hotel for only three and onehalf (3-1/2) months when the contract was terminated by Home. Brod sued Home for breach of the contract, tortious interference with Brod's business and for violation of Florida's theft statute. The jury awarded damages for anticipated lost profits to Brod and that portion of the judgment was affirmed.

The evidence offered by Plaintiff in that case was comparable to that offered by Wharfside. A certified public accountant was called who specialized in the hotel and resort industry. His firm had developed a publication which gathered data for the purpose of projections and feasibility studies. He compared the projection data he had put together with his publication and based his testimony concerning profit

-19-

projections on assumptions of comparable occupancy percentages, rates and expenses. Those assumptions were based on the testimony of another expert witness who was engaged with and familiar with operations in the area where the hotel was located. The Court held that the evidence presented by these two experts was both admissible and relevent.

Judge Dyer, specifically addressing the question of whether or not a new business may claim future lost profits, held that the mere fact that the Plaintiff was a new business, did not automatically exclude its claim for future lost profits. Judge Dyer noted that there are two generally recognized methods of proving lost profits. First, the "before and after theory", and secondly, the so called "yardstick test". The Court said that the before and after theory is not easily adaptable to a Plaintiff who has been driven out of business before he is able to compile an earnings record. Therefore, he may rely upon the yardstick test when he has adequate data to support assumptions showing lost profits and their amount.

In light of <u>New Amsterdam</u>, <u>Twyman</u>, <u>Massey Ferguson</u>, <u>Resorts International, Inc.</u> and <u>G. M. Brod & Company, Inc.</u>, there is simply no legal justification for a ruling that a new business may never recover damages for lost profits. That is only true where a Plaintiff does not have available to him any yardstick to use to measure his damages.

-20-

There certainly is no moral justification for such a rule of law. That was more eloquently stated in <u>G. M. Brod &</u> Company, Inc. v. U. S. Home Corp., supra, where the Court said:

"In Mechanical Wholesale the court stated that 'the mere fact that Mechanical was a new business does not automatically exclude its claim for future lost profits . . . The fact that such damages are difficult to measure and by their nature are uncertain in amount does not render such damages unrecoverable.' Id. at 231. The court noted that this is particularly true where a party breaches his contract and seeks to escape liability merely because it is impossible for the other party to state or prove a perfect measure of damages."

It is submitted that the evidence offered by Wharfside as to the amount of its damages and as to the fact and cause of damage, was sufficient to go to the jury. Wharfside was entitled to have the jury consider that as an element of damage. The Trial Court erred in refusing to admit the testimony of Fred Corso and Dr. Joseph Perry, in not allowing Plaintiff to argue its claim for lost profits and in declining to instruct the jury that they could award damages to Wharfside for lost profits.

The First District Court of Appeal was correct in reversing the Trial Court for those rulings.

-21-

#### POINT TWO

# DID THE JURY'S VERDICT CONTAIN INCONSISTENCIES WHICH FUNDAMENTALLY UNDERMINED ITS UNDERLYING BASIS?

The jury's verdict was fundamentally inconsistent without question. The only claim which Wharfside had against Chanen arose because Chanen was the general contractor for the construction of this hotel, and as such, had overall responsibility for all of the subcontractors' work. Wharfside made a claim against Chanen on that basis and a claim against Gay as the actual tort feasor. Chanen properly sought indemnity from Gay for any sums for which it was held liable.

The jury found in favor of Wharfside and against Chanen. However, it found against Wharfside and in favor of Gay and against Chanen and in favor of Gay. That simply could not have been done under the pleadings, issues and instructions of the Court.

Further, there was no evidence which would have supported a verdict against either Chanen or Gay in favor of Wharfside in the amount of \$30,000. The only testimony of damage to Wharfside, outside of lost profits, was that it would have required over \$1,000,000 to replace the piping system and that the sums which had been paid to outside sources to repair the

-22-

pipes was approximately \$21,000. The jury could not have arrived at the sum of \$30,000 as Wharfside's damages.

Further, the damages of Gay, if any were to be recovered, were stipulated at \$230,000. There was no way the jury could have awarded \$200,000 under that agreement of the parties.

Therefore, as the First District Court of Appeals stated, this verdict was so inconsistent that the inconsistencies fundamentally undermined the verdict's underlying basis. In such a situation, a Court of Appeals has no alternative but to reverse a judgment founded upon the verdict. See, <u>North Am.</u> <u>Catamaran Racing v. McCollister</u>, 480 So.2d 669 (5th Fla. D.C.A. 1985).

#### CONCLUSION

The Trial Court erred in refusing to admit evidence on Wharfside's claim for lost profits and in striking that claim. Wharfside should have been allowed to argue its claim for lost profits to the jury and the jury should have been instructed that that was an element of damage which they could consider on the claim of Wharfside against Chanen and Gay. The Trial Court was properly reversed for these rulings.

The jury verdict was so inconsistent that it was fundamentally flawed and its underlying basis was undermined. That alone requires reversal by the Appellate Court.

Therefore, the decision of the Florida District Court of Appeal, First District, should be affirmed and this cause should be returned to the Trial Court for further proceedings not inconsistent with that decision.